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How 10
WRITE UP RESEARCH

The two most important considerations when writing up your research are that you convey the
facts in the most engaging way and that you avoid being subject to legal action.

In the majority of cases, it will be useful to have a chronology of the events under investigation —
when x met with y, decisions were taken, public relations campaigns began, scientific studies
published, company accounts filed etc. This does not mean that you have to relay the story
chronologically, but a clear grasp of the timeline will help you to move around in time within the re-
telling. Many of the most common software packages have the facility to plot a timeline once you
have the data, with Excel being a useful vehicle for recording dates and plotting them over time.

Just like any good story-teller, you will need to try and engage your reader. This is best done by
considering the same criteria as screen writers would, which includes characterisation — outlining
people’s motivations, psychological state and obstacles — and setting the scene. You may wish to
begin with a hypothesis and examine various causes and effects. Human interest is always a good
building block for a story, with the drier details quickly summarised so as to avoid losing your
reader. A good story will lead to some kind of struggle, climax, resolution or conclusion. All facts
reported must be verifiable but you can recount them in a rich, multi-layered way.

This brings us onto our next point — avoiding legal action. In order to do this, you will need to be
meticulous in your research process. Keep copies of every document you rely upon in your
argument, take notes from every meeting or conversation you engage in, even if it is ‘off the record’,
and double-check everything when you come to write up. This is especially the case where your
story exposes a major political or corporate scandal in which fierce libel lawyers might be involved.

If everything you have written is true and verifiable, you will largely be protected from legal action.
Charges of defamation, slander (for transitory statements) and libel (for written, broadcast or
otherwise published words) generally rely on published statements being untrue. Take extra care
with juxtaposition, using words like ‘meanwhile’ and ‘separately’ to distinguish different actions and
protagonists; also use ‘allegedly’ freely.

29

"PO3ION0S UOTFBULIOFUT JO SO13IjUEND J0J SoSueI 038P I0 (UMOU]

J1) Jnoqe Surrmbue aae No& s3UsAS dYIads Jo sajep oY} SUlsn IopIsuod pue aqissod se ofyads se og
'sa01dsne s71 Jopun YIIm 9 Bep aq A[[BOIIBWOINE [[IM 1Sonbad In0A S8 10y 93 UOTJUSW 0} PIdU J0U Op NOX
‘ssedppe ue apraoad 03 peau [[Im nok ‘Teadde 01 s008 958D INOK JT “)BY) PUTW UI I8 In( WAUopnesd B tepun
Apdde Lew nok) swreu Inok SurAld pue oImbal nok st 41 Jeym A[jouroons Surges ‘([rewrs 1o 3sod £q) 3sonbax
B UL PUSS UBD NOA ‘Urewop o1[qnd ayj Ul a[qe[IeAR A[IPBaI J0U ST UOTJRULIOJUL STY) 1B} POIJSIIBS aar

noA 9ou() ‘3senbar 1ok Juryjew 810joq SUNIBSIISOAUL 818 NOK Apoq 93 Aq pasea[ad ApBaile SJUsWnoop a8yl
Yoaess 03 9o1308Id PO0OS ST 1 ‘FUTS 818 NOA UOIIBWLIOJUL 9} pajsenbad eary A[snoraerd Aew sU0LWOS Sy

W WOPOL]/I0] /SN A0 A quuiasseitnmmm//:d1)1 :A[qUIOSSy puB[ad] WISYIION
uo=3uer[;/1senbareaxew/ojursseodr/suorjeoriqnd /sn-aod-sorem//:d)y :A[qUISSSY YS[OM
T0J#W) S )10BIU00/s0SeJuo/yn jusowrei[ied ys13oos'mmm//:d11y ;juswrerfieq ysijoos
/10J-189NDba1/10J/U0T) B ULIOJUTL-0) IS/ N Juswel[red Mmmm//:d)) :Juswrerired 3N

:oxe soded qom

[NJOST SUWIOG "UOTBULIOJUT JO WIOPIBI] 03 POIBITPAP 931sqom J1o1} Jo 1aed € 9ARY [[1M s1poq or[qnd Jo Ajtrolfewr
a) pue 10y 83 Iopun 1senbel B oBW 0] ASBO AISA ST ]] ‘[BUSSIE S I0YdIBOSAL SAIIBSIISOAUL AUR UT 00

381§ 93 ST (J0]) 3V UOTIBULIOFUT JO WIOPAILY Y, "SIIIALOS PUE Spo03 Jo uoistaoad yanoays sanyrroyyne orqnd
ITM 109SI07UT A0 oIoYm satuedwiod 9)eALId INOQE UOIIBWLIOJUT 10T[e 0 Pasn 8¢ 0S[8 ABW 10V o} 183 9J0N

SOIPO( ATOSIAPEB PUR S99 TWW0D ‘S81poq d1[qnd [Bjuswlredep-uou 10Yyjo AUBW .
aotjod a3

swnesnw papunj Aprqnd .

SOTIISIOATUN pUB S93[[00 ‘S[00IS .

seLIe3ans $10700p pue s[edsoy ‘sisnay yipeey .

S[IOUNO) PUB SSNILIOYINE [80] .

SOI[qUIASSE [BO0] pUE sjuswredap JUSWUISA0S .

.03 sorpdde sy,

2'SU9Z130 §31 WOJ UOTJBULIOFUL
I0J s3sanbax o3 puodsex 03 paSi[qo Usaq sBY () Y3 Ul UoBSIURIIO 103098 oT[qnd L1949 ‘GOQZ 22Uls

‘JBY[) SUBOW UYOIUM ‘SpUB)S [[13S OV 93 ‘SSO[8YI_UON ;" A1 Jo Ajiqisuodsarit ay3 38 ayenb | ‘dooduroouru
o[qisuodsaiar ‘YsI[00] ‘@AIBU NOA “}0IpI NOX ‘sIdap[moys Aw Jjo sdoap 31 [[13 peay Aw Juryeys oyI[

1997 I, :39V UOIJeUWLIOfu] JO WOpaal] 9y} SUONpoIjul JI0j JosWIY pajelaq Ire[d Auq], ‘satowauw (0TQZ Sy Ul

1Dy NOILYWJO4N| 40 WOQ33d4 IHL 3S()
OL MOH

INTRODUCTION TO INVESTIGATIVE RESEARCH

Public Corruption: The misuse of public office for private gain.
Political Corruption: Corruption that influences the formulation of laws, regulations and policies.
Administrative Corruption: Corruption that alters the implementation of policies.

Source: The World Bank

Corporate Corruption: The misuse of private and public funds, accounting practices and legal loopholes to
enhance private gain.

In spring 2010, a group of researchers in the Globalisation, Communication and Democracy research
cluster at the University of Strathclyde decided that they needed sharper methodological tools in order to
investigate corruption in the public and private spheres. This led them to the summer school of the Centre
for Investigative Journalism' at City University in London, where they were inundated with information
about how best to expose society’s ills. What you see here is an attempt to convey what they learnt to
fellow researchers in this field. It is the result of furious note-taking, which means that any errors are
more likely to be ours than those of the people presenting at the summer school.

Spanning a range of approaches to investigative research, this manual outlines the tools needed to access
the information to which every UK citizen has a right. Beginning with the public sector, it considers how
the Freedom of Information Act entitles members of the public to monitor the ways in which decisions are
taken that affect their lives. This leads into a consideration of how specific financial and contractual
information may be elicited from local authorities and police forces, and how public sector accounts are
interpreted. This exercise is then repeated for the private sector, where the terminology shifts and the
stakes increase but the potential for corruption remains the same. Moving from organisations to
individuals, subsequent chapters demonstrate how to find people online and how to uncover details of their
activities using sophisticated powers of detection. In the closing sections, attention turns to investigating
misuses of the political system through spin and lobbying. And, finally, suggestions will be offered about
how to write up your research in a way that will both engage readers and protect you from legal action.

Investigative research isn’t easy and it can take a huge amount of time to sift through the facts, but it
is socially necessary and it can be immensely rewarding. Always remember that, in an era of
corruption, knowledge really is power.

By researchers for researchers, 2010.

! See http://www.tcij.org
We would love to hear about your investigations and any suggestions you might have for how this manual could be improved

at: investigative.manual@gmail.com
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If you are researching an individual, you can use published volumes, such as Who’s Who or
Debrett’s Peerage, to establish the basic family history and affiliations of the great and the good.
For a more thorough search, especially on issues of historical relevance, you might use Nexis UK
(available digitally through the website of the university library), which will bring up lists of press
and publications involving the subject of your research. You will also need to deploy some of the
methods outlined in the chapters on How to be a Web Detective and How to Find People Online to
track down individuals.

If you are looking at a company, refer to the chapters of this manual dealing with Companies House
and corporate accounting; if you are investigating an organisation with charitable status, the
various Charity Commissions of the UK keep registers that are available online. In the battle to
control public and political opinion, the use of think tanks, front groups and fake grassroots (or
astroturf) organisations has become established practice, and information available at Companies
House might provide important insight into the powerful funders behind a particular organisation.
You may wish to explore the links of company directors and charity trustees in order to establish a
pattern of inter-connectedness. You can use social network analysis to visually map out the linkages
between various groups and individuals, using graphical software such as Y-ed.? Some interesting
experiments in this area have been conducted, with Exxon Secrets (http://www.exxonsecrets.org),
showing how Exxon Mobil funds attempts to disrupt the scientific consensus on global warming.*

In order to expose junctures at which corporations have used spin to massage the figures, you will
often need to compare the message they want you to read with the actual facts, which may involve
consulting annual reports and empirical research from the same field. If you are researching
lobbying, you may wish to consult Hansard, the daily record of debates in the House of Commons, to
determine when a particular issue was brought before parliament and by whom.?

If you are investigating a website, look for registration information, as outlined in the Web
Detective chapter, while bearing in mind that, in recent years, some actors have taken to using
domain-anonymising services to conceal their identities. Similar searches may also be carried out
for IP addresses; sometimes all it takes to expose a front group is to put its address into Google and
check whether another organisation shares the same address.

Something as mundane as a phone call might also help to establish a link. In 2009, a call to the
London offices of Réalité EU — a web-based project with a newsletter that pushes alarmist claims on
Iran — was redirected to voicemail in the US. Taking down the number given in the voicemail and
typing it into Google showed it to be a number in the offices of The Israel Project, a hard-line Israel
lobby group based in Washington DC. Subsequent emails received from Réalité EU revealed that
they were sent from a mail server registered to the Washington offices of B'nai B’rith International,
a leading national Israel lobby institution, which shared a mail server and office with The Israel
Project.

You can also make extensive use of the Freedom of Information Act (see the first chapter of this
manual) to obtain information from public bodies which is not generally available. Although private
companies are not vulnerable to Fol, their communications with public bodies are and this can be a
key resource for investigating corporate lobbying. Be prepared to persist to obtain the information
you need. It took Spinwatch® researchers two years to force the House of Commons to release the
names of former MPs with pass access to the House of Commons, which showed that at least
twenty-five of them were working as lobbyists and were able to use their passes to gain access for
their clients. Freedom of Information also operates at a European level, providing access to
important documents dictating policy to member states.
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You are free to request all the information available on a particular topic, covering a variety of formats,
including:

e Minutes of meetings

e Policy documents

e Reports

e Details of communications — emails, letters, faxes and telephone transcripts, video, text
messages, PowerPoint presentations

e Details of public money spent

e Personal information held about you (also accessible under the Data Protection Act)

You can ask the material to be sent to you as a hard copy or digitally, depending on your preference.
Most requests are free of charge, but this implies an upper limit of £450 (€600 for central government)
that will be borne by the public body finding and copying material; if fulfilling your request is likely to
exceed this, you will be asked to narrow you request. Note that, in a recent legal case concerning
Glasgow City Council and the Scottish Information Commissioner, the judge took the view that the Act
covered access to the information, rather than copies of the information itself, which has led to certain
authorities (notably Strathclyde Police) providing summaries of information requested rather than
original copies.*

Every public body has a duty to reply within twenty working days unless they ask you for more time to
process your request.” Within the initial twenty-day period, they may also contact you in an attempt to
establish precisely what kind of information you need.

Environmental and financial information may be covered under separate legislation. The former may be
covered by Environmental Information Regulations;® the latter is dealt with in the next section of this
manual.

There are twenty-three exemptions to the Act, but the emphasis is on disclosure and it is the
responsibility of the public authority to use exemptions judiciously.” If you are not happy with the
decision reached by the authority, you are entitled to launch a review process. In the reply to your
original request, you will be given the contact details of someone within the same organisation to whom
this request for a review should be made. If the original decision is upheld, totally or partially, and this
is still not to your satisfaction, you should contact the information commissioner:

In England, Wales and Northern Ireland: http://www.ico.gov.uk/complaints/freedom_of information.aspx
In Scotland: http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/YourRights/HowToAppeal/HowToAppeallntro.asp

If you are dissatisfied with the Information Commissioner’s decision, you may appeal this:
In England, Wales and Northern Ireland: http://www.informationtribunal.gov.uk/formsguidance. htm
In Scotland: http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/YourRights/HowToAppeal/CourtAppeal.asp

Sometimes, public authorities will invoke copyright legislation when providing material to you. It is
important to note that the Freedom of Information Act does not place restrictions on how you use the
information you receive under it. An exception to this is where the material released is already covered
by copyright, or where information is being used for commercial purposes.

When using Fol, be persistent — some authorities are more forthcoming than others — and be
prepared to challenge decisions.

Based on a presentation by Rob Evans: http://www.guardian.co.uk/profile/robevans

!Tony Blair, A Journey (London: Hutchinson, 2010).

2 Download the leaflet entitled ‘Your Right to Know’ about Freedom of Information in Scotland at:
http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/nmsruntime/saveasdialog.asp?1ID=1858&s1D=321

3 http://www.direct.gov.uk/en/Governmentcitizensandrights/Yourrightsandresponsibilities/DG_4003239

4 http!//www.scotcourts.gov.uk/opinions/2009CSITH73.html

5 Use the Scottish Information Commissioner’s Response Calculator to see when you should expect a reply:
http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/YourRights/responseCalculator.asp

8 http://www.defra.gov.uk/corporate/policy/opengov/eir/faqg.htm

7 http://www.ico.gov.uk/home/what_we_cover/freedom_of_information/guidance.aspx#exeguidance
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This service is not available for UK phone numbers, however a search on http:/www.192.com may
give you the full address (see How to Find People Online). This information can help you with
further searches for information on the web and in newsgroups.

You could see if John has been involved in criminal activities by checking the online archives of his
local paper. You can see if he has been made bankrupt by checking the disqualified directors
database on the Companies House website or the register of insolvency via the Accountant in
Bankruptey http://www.aib.gov.uk

Finally, having found John’s address, we can perhaps gauge his standard of living by profiling his
local area. By entering his postcode in http:/www.upmystreet.com you will be supplied with
property prices and crime rates. You could even see if John has a swimming pool by accessing an
aerial photograph of his house at http://www.getmapping.com

Newsgroups

John Smith may not realise that his every message to a bird watching newsgroup is being stored.
He may be mortified to find out that, by simply clicking on his name in Google, anybody could see
the messages he has sent to other newsgroups. These might be just as mundane as his birdwatching
messages, but, with so many sexually and politically orientated newsgroups in existence, John’s
contributions could reveal a side to his personality that would normally be hidden. See the section
on newsgroups in How to Find People Online for searches in social network sites.

Protecting Your Privacy

The amount of online information that can be dug up on any individual is frightening. If you are
concerned about your own privacy or worried about being traced and profiled, there are a number of
golden rules to follow:

e If you are considering contributing to online forums, avoid using your home e-mail address.

o Register different free e-mail addresses for different forums. Never give out details about
yourself that you don’t want to see printed in a national newspaper.

e Exercise your rights under the Data Protection Act to have personal information removed
from online databases.

Based on a presentation by Paul Myers: http://www.researchclinic.co.uk
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In advance of the inspection period, you may request a copy of the spreadsheet and you could find out
the name of the external auditor. The spreadsheet will provide an overview, enabling you to narrow
your search and request a breakdown in particular areas e.g. legal and arbitration, consultancy, public
relations. At this time, you can write to or email the responsible officer, requesting areas of the accounts
which are of interest to you. The council has the right to redact any personal information from the
spreadsheet only with the prior consent of the external auditor, so you may wish to check that this
permission has been granted.

The location of documents may present a logistical hurdle to their inspection. Some may be kept in
schools, which will be closed if the inspection period falls during holiday time, or they may be
outsourced to financial accounting services and stored hundreds of miles away.

It is an offence for an official to interfere with a person’s legitimate right to view and copy the accounts.
Any attempted obfuscation may be reported to the external auditor as a prelude to making a formal
objection to the accounts. You may also inform the local authority that you intend to seek an order from
the court for the material to be supplied in accordance with the Act, giving a deadline for the material
to be provided. You are entitled to be represented by an agent.

Assuming you manage to surmount any obstacles in your path, on the advertised dates you will then be
able to request direct access to all relevant contracts, receipts, invoices etc., by departmental budget
code and description. Request particular documents in a bid to ensure that all expenditure has been
lawful, bearing in mind that you might be charged for copying.

You can check expenditure against the council’s own financial regulations to ensure that it complies
with procedure. If you are looking at an elected member’s expenses, cross reference data from the
accounts with the statutory register of elected members’ expenses and with the statutory public register
of elected members’ financial and non-pecuniary interests. Note that arms’ length external
organisations and Public Finance Initiative (PFI) contractors seem able to exclude their accounts from
scrutiny under the Act, but they intersect with local authorities in places, which means you are entitled
to see all relevant contracts and invoices.

Related legislation concerning local authority affairs includes:

Local Authorities (Members Allowances) Regulations 2003 — which requires councils to maintain and
make available a public register of all payments to and expenses claimed by councillors.

Local Government Act (2000) — which requires councils to maintain and make available a public
register detailing the personal and financial interests of all elected members and co-opted members.

Local Authorities (Model Code of Conduct) Orders (2001) — which requires councillors to disclose
employment, business, property, investment, contractual, political sponsorship, charitable, trade union
and professional interests.

Based on a presentation by Richard Orange: http:/www.orchardnews.com
! For more details about the legislation, see http://www.orchardnews.com/accounts.htm

2 http://www.panopticonblog.com/2009/11/09/accessing-local-authority-information-under-the-audit-commission-act-1998
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Typing the term ‘filetype’ before a data file extension (.doc .rtf .pdf .xIs .xlsl .ppt) will ensure that a
certain kind of document appears in a search. For example, ‘poverty site:scotland.gov.uk filetype:xls’
will restrict the search to Excel spreadsheets which mention poverty within the Scottish
government website. Ensure there are no spaces between the colon and domain address and
filetypes.

Format Selector for Finding Statistics

A similar search term format can be used in any of the search engines (Google, Yahoo, Bing etc.) to
find collated lists of information such as statistics, expenses etc. In the search box, state the
filetype you wish to find. For example:

Compare: house prices Greenwich

With: “house prices” Greenwich 2007 filetype:xls
Compare: MPs expenses

With: “MPs expenses” filetype:xls

If you are looking for experts in particular fields, it may be possible to identify them from a
PowerPoint presentation they may have made. So, for example, to find experts in the field of
terrorism, type the search terms ‘terror* filetype:ppt’ (use * so that the search will find all words
beginning with ‘terror’, which will include ‘terrorist’ and ‘terrorism’).

Detective Work on Sources
When you visit websites, remember to identify and verify the sources and ask questions, such as:

e Who is the author/publisher of the article?

e Are they an authoritative source?

e What are their credentials, qualifications, background and experience?

e What are their motives for publishing the information?

e What is their standpoint?

e Who sponsored or funded the site?

e Click on ‘other links’ to discover who the website has relations with and investigate for bias
or partisanship.

Websites for Investigating

If you have the email address of the person you are investigating, you can search for information
about them by typing in the ‘Email’ category of the search box at http://www.pipl.com. Try typing in
your own email address to see the kind of information that is brought up.

If you are undertaking political research or investigating your MP, a good place to start is They
Work for You http://www.theyworkforyou.com

It may also be possible to find people who contribute potentially useful information through the
photo-sharing network, Flickr http://www.flickr.com. Try a tag-search for ‘participation’ or for
‘pollution’ and follow the links to other interesting pages.

Tracing Website Owners
Generally, there are four kinds of websites: owned domain names, university servers, free webspace
and sites hosted by ISP.

Owned domain names

The owners of these kinds of sites are usually easy to track as every domain name owner must
supply contact details to the authorities. A domain name and its owner can be searched at http://
www.easywhois.com. For example, if you have someone’s email address that belongs to a dedicated
domain, such as john@govanhillbaths.com’, insert the domain ‘govanhillbaths.com’ into http://
www.easywhois.com. The search result will show the full name of the domain owner, such as
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Distinction between Revenue and Capital Spending

One of the main ways of controlling how public money is spent relies on the somewhat malleable
distinction between revenue and capital spending.

Revenue spending (also known as resource/current spending) is derived, in theory, from tax
revenue hence its name. Revenue spending reflects immediate consumption, for example wages,
benefits, heating and food for hospitals and schools.

Capital spending (also known as investment) is officially defined as something that costs more
than £5,000 and lasts more than one year, which includes buildings and other long-life
equipment. A more pragmatic definition is that, if you can see it from the road, it has probably
come from capital spending. Because of their investment potential, capital projects may be
financed through borrowing. This means that capital spending is a useful area in which to attract
borrowing to meet the deficit between revenue and expenditure. In times of crisis, capital
spending is the first area to be cut because it is less immediate and often less evident than cuts to
revenue spending. So, for example, buildings can suffer some lack of maintenance more subtly
than frontline resources can be lost.

Controlling Capital Spending

In order to understand how creative accounting may be undertaken between revenue and capital
accounts, it is necessary to consider the following:

e Capital budgets are ring-fenced, with borrowing limits in place for each public sector
organisation.

e C(Capital is intended to stay as capital and there are rules against funding revenue
spending with the proceeds from asset sales (so, for example, a school cannot sell its
buildings to pay for its teachers and books).

e Capital charges are payable, as a tax to the Treasury, on any assets sold, which acts as a
disincentive to owning/selling property.

Of course, creative accountants have found ways around all of these controls:
Creativity around Capital Spending Limits

Capital budgets may be manipulated in the following ways:

1. Revenue to Capital Transfers

Public Finance Initiatives (PFIs) are rather like public sector hire purchase agreements,
allowing payment for an asset to be spread over an extended period. Significantly, for a public
sector organisation entering into partnership with a private body, PFI permits capital assets to
be paid for with revenue. Invented to keep government debt levels (and hence interest rates)
down, this has recently been the main government-endorsed way of conducting spending away
from the balance sheet (the statement of financial position for any organisation). Of the 628 PFI
deals entered into by February 2010, 532 of them have been conducted away from the balance
sheet in deals worth £57bn; by 2060, the cost of these deals to the public purse will be £267bn.

The accounting system has recently been reformed to avoid off-balance-sheet transactions, which
will have an impact on the public sector.!
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Finding Experts through Specialist Directories and Websites

Expert directories offer a good means of finding specialist contributors. They are mainly used by
lawyers to help them find expert sources for their case work, but researchers may also find such
tools useful. See for example:

http://www.expertsearch.co.uk — try searching for ‘cycling’.

You can use http://www.scholar.google.co.uk to find academics in particular fields.

There are also a number of specialist scientific sources which are especially useful for finding
(mostly Western) academics and stories, articles, press releases and research in many niche fields.
They include:

Alphagalileo: http://www.alphagalileo.org

Eurekalert: http://www.eurekalert.org

Try entering ‘community engagement’ in both of these websites before searching for your own
research keywords.

Finding Experts through Website Addresses

To find experts based in universities, three factors need to be inserted in the search box:

Subject term, e.g. environmental law
A term connecting the subject to his/her profession, e.g. professor
Site: ac.uk (for UK universities)

For example, to find an expert in environmental law, type in the following terms in google and
compare the results:

environmental law expert
oil environmental law professor site:ac.uk

Compare:
With:

Alternatively, to find an expert in detecting fraud data:

expert data fraud
fraud~data professor site:ac.uk

Compare:
With:

Finding Individuals/Experts via Social Networking Sites

Facebook is particularly popular across the UK, with many users interested in international,
economic, social and political matters, some of whom are experts in their fields. The site groups
people according to themes and issues from around the world. If you have a Facebook account, type
‘community engagement’ in the search box, then try ‘sustainable communities’. Both of these
searches will produce links for individual and group contacts which can be followed. There are other
network spaces such as http://www.myspace.com and you could do a search within groups relevant
to your area of investigation.

Remember that many other countries also use different kinds of social networking sites. For
example, if you are interested in finding contributors/opinion from South America, try http:/
www.orkut.com. It is also very popular in India — you will need to register and create a profile to
search, but, once you have a profile, you can search according to keywords in your own research
area.

Likewise, http!//www.badoo.com is more popular in mainland Europe than in the UK.

Russia has one of the largest bases of network users — try using the Russian social network
www.vkontakte.ru for searches (choose English translation).

Another search could be conducted through the online communities which have created their own
social networks. Try searching http://www.ning.com for ‘environment UK.

If you are looking for professional communities, then, aside from Facebook networks, LinkedIn
http//www.linkedin.com is a good place to start.

For a short discussion on strengths and weaknesses of using LinkedIn and Facebook see:
http://slewfootsnoop.wordpress.com/2008/05/07/fight-fight-fight-linkedin-vs-facebook/

Based on a presentation by Murray Dick: http:/www.brunel.ac.uk/about/acad/sa/artstaff/journalismstaff/mdick
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1. Depreciation

Whenever a building is bought, its lifespan will be estimated and a charge will be made
against capital assets, which represents a fraction of the cost of the building over the course of
its useful life. So, for example, if a building costs £300,000 and is estimated to last 30 years, a
charge of £10,000 could be made to the capital account every year. This is a non cash charge;
spending it creates cash whereby organisations charge themselves depreciation and set this
aside to fund future capital. This raises questions about the asset’s useful life and its actual
value, the latter of which is expected to conform to the Treasury’s Modern Equivalent Asset
Value (MEAV).2 The government sets values for depreciation — look for any changes of
definition in the Notes to the Accounts. Note that depreciation can only be factored into
budgets if the asset appears on the balance sheet, which means that it is generally not
chargeable on PFI projects. This will create an issue for those organisations bringing PFI
projects onto their balance sheets.

2. Impairments

If the value of an asset, as shown in the balance sheet, exceeds its actual value if it was sold,
then the amount shown on the balance sheet needs to be reduced accordingly. A non-cash
charge is made to the revaluation reserve and the income and expenditure account, through a
process known as impairment. This is subject to manipulation, for example where a loss is
recorded after an asset has been re-valued, which again makes it important to look at
valuation timings. Impairment is a useful way of ‘hiding’ money in the accounts, setting aside
cash in case it is taken away in the future.

3. Provisions

Provisions account for costs which may be forthcoming but which are by no means certain, for
example an employment tribunal, contract litigation or unused staff holidays. This is known
as ‘strengthening the balance sheet’, which is code for hiding money. In its 2009-10 budget,
the NHS included £16.6bn of provisions, only £1.5bn of which had actually been spent. If
investigating in this area, ask yourself how likely it is that the eventuality being budgeted for
will actually happen.

There are many other avenues for exploration when investigating public sector organisations,
not least by following where the money is being spent and how it is weighted in different
geographical areas, which will almost always be politically motivated. As the coalition
government embarks on its radical programme of cuts, the public sector will be dramatically
affected. This provides plenty of scope for looking at the strategies public sector organisations
deploy to balance their books. You will also be able to engage in some pre-emptive work, for
example by comparing the provisions made by particular quangos for mass redundancy to the
actual picture it would be facing if it was wound up.

Based on a presentation by Sally Gainsbury and Noel Plumridge: http://www.hsj.co.uk/sally-gainsbury/2230.bio

1 On 30 November 2006, the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) issued an
Interpretation, called IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements, which addresses how service concession operators
(private bodies contracted to provide a public service) should apply existing International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) to account for the obligations they undertake and rights they receive in service concession
arrangements. See http://www.ifrs.org/Current+Projects/IFRIC+Projects
IFRIC+12+Service+Concession+Arrangements/IFRIC+12+Service+Concession+Arrangements.htm

2 http://www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/d/guidance_on_asset_valuation.pdf
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Contingent liabilities — this evaluates the impact of an event which may happen or is unlikely to
happen.

Auditor’s report — the auditor must make a declaration which will normally be an unqualified opinion
that this represents a true and fair reflection of the accounts. Occasionally, they may offer a
qualified opinion and an explanation of their qualification, which may emphasise a particular
matter or express uncertainty about the company’s status as a going concern. This should set alarm
bells ringing. In the light of various accounting scandals, sceptical investigators might also ask
about the extent to which auditors are independent. They are paid large fees and are generally well
conditioned to suit the company’s purposes; it is in their financial interest not to draw attention to
irregularities as they may be sued for not having spotted them in previous years. Auditors rarely
leave a company but, if they do, they are required to file a letter, citing their reasons, which may be
checked.

In summary, if undertaking a financial investigation:

Look at political donations and statements of corporate social responsibility.

Compare the level of directors’ remuneration with that of their employees.

Examine the previous history of the management.

Look at the pension deficit.

Compare dividends paid out to shareholders with the amount of profit being made.

Assess the degree to which profits have been overstated (by over-estimating assets and/or under-
estimating liabilities).

Compare the turnover to the amount owed to creditors/by debtors and for evidence of fictitious sales.

Look at how much cash there is in the company.

Track both profits and cash flow over successive years — if profits seem to be increasing but cash does
not, the company is in trouble.

Analyse the quality of assets and not just their quantity.

Compare the amount of tax the company actually paid with that which it was due to pay.

Look at the exceptional items and evaluate how exceptional they really are.

Check to see whether auditors have expressed any concerns.

o Ask yourself how independent the auditors are.

Based on a series of presentations by Raj Bairoliya: http://www.fticonsulting.com/professionals/rajib-bairoliya.aspx
! http://www.investegate.co.uk

2An overview of the financial performance of charities registered in England and Wales is provided on the Charity
Commission website (www.charity-commission.gov.uk). In Scotland, the Office of the Scottish Charity Regulator
(www.oscr.org.uk) has no remit to collate accounting data, beyond income, but the public has the right to request from
the charity a copy of its latest statement of account under s.23 (1) (a) and (b) of the Charities and Trustee Investment
(Scotland) Act 2005. At the time of writing, the new Charity Commission for Northern Ireland (www.dsdni.gov.uk) is
preparing to register all charities operational in the province; according to the Charities Act (Northern Ireland) 2008,
the public has the right to reasonable access of information that will be held by the charity commission, including
accounting data.

3 Interesting case studies include Enron, Worldcom and Satyam.

4 The notes to the accounts will specify the period over which depreciation has been calculated; within reason, it is left
to the company’s judgement, and the tax office does not have hard and fast rules.

5 An interesting case study in this regard is that of MG Rover.
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Compare the basic company information (about accounting cycles etc.) to the list of documents available.
If information is outstanding or only partly satisfied (particularly the accounts) this is potentially
alarming. You can check with the press office of Companies House to see whether or not a particular
company is in danger of defaulting or has paid any penalties for late submissions.

Every company will certify its accounts to be fair and accurate, but sometimes auditors will include a note
about any reservations they may have. If a company seems to be in danger of breaching its banking
covenants, this is worth reporting. It is often useful to trace the ultimate parent company, which should be
cited at the end of the accounts, in order to determine who profits from the company. For further details on
how to use the accounting information you have requested, see the next section.

By looking at the articles of association, the movements of directors and the latest annual return, you will be
able to tell if you are looking at a shell company that was bought off the shelf and activated. Phoenix
companies? — where the assets of one company are moved to another entity — are harder to spot but, as they
often have the same directors, following individuals can help (see below). If you suspect a cartel — an explicit
agreement between competing companies to artificially fix prices in a non-competitive manner — you should
inform the Office of Fair Trading as it is in the public interest.?

Going back to the Companies House home page, you will remember the Companies House Direct option.
This is a subscription service which costs £5 per month and £1 for each document requested, which is worth
considering if you undertake regular investigations into corporate personnel. Once you have registered
(activation takes a few days), you can log in to a range of options.

One of the most useful of these is the Officer Search function. This enables you to search for individuals by
name, to bring up a list of companies with which they have been involved. If there is more than one entry for
the name you are seeking, look at birth dates to narrow your search. Once you have selected the relevant
individual, you can click on their name and, at a cost of £1, be provided with a list of all the companies (past
and present) with which they have been associated as directors. This will also tell you what happened to
their directorship and to the company, which will give you an idea of the individual’s track record in
business. If there is evidence of bankruptcy,* you can contact debtors for a comment; HM Revenue and
Customs and the banks will not comment on individual cases but they will always follow the debt. Also note
that it is considered bad corporate governance for the same person to act as both chair and chief executive of
a company.

In general, this way of working provides protection for researchers who accurately report their findings
‘According to records available at Companies House...’

If you are investigating companies with offshore offices, limited information is offered via the following sites:
Jersey Financial Services Commission: http://www.jerseyfsc.org

Guernsey Registry: http://www.guernseyregistry.com

Isle of Man Financial Supervision Commission: http!//www.fsc.gov.im

In the USA, the Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval (EDGAR) system allows free access to
the company accounts filing arm of the US Securities and Exchange Commission at http:/www.sec.gov

When you have gleaned information regarding companies and their directors, some interesting experiments
in social network analysis can be undertaken. For example, this information might be used to track the
interests of the main players controlling the economy. So, in the US, a project called They Rule
(http://www.theyrule.net) provides annotated information about major corporate bodies and their directors
and allows links to be plotted between companies via their personnel.

There is still plenty of scope for this way of working in the UK. Just remember to follow every lead but to
walk away if a quest seems futile.

Based on a presentation by Robert Miller: http:/www.telegraph.co.uk/finance/financevideo/businessbullet
! http://www.companieshouse.gov.uk/about/functionsHistory.shtml

2 http://payontime.co.uk/phoenix-companies-and-insolvent-trading-businesses

3 httpi//www.oft.gov.uk/OF Twork/competition-act-and-cartels/cartels/complain

4 http://www.insolvency.gov.uk/index.htm



